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The S t a t e appeals from the c i r c u i t c o u r t ' s o r d e r g r a n t i n g 

L a r r y R e ynold Smith's Rule 32, Ala.R.Crim.P., p e t i t i o n f o r 
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In August 1995, Smith was c o n v i c t e d of c a p i t a l murder and 

was sentenced t o d e a t h . Smith's c o n v i c t i o n and sentence were 

a f f i r m e d on a p p e a l . See Smith v. S t a t e , 727 So. 2d 147 ( A l a . 

C r i m . App. 1998), a f f ' d , 727 So. 2d 173 ( A l a . 1999), c e r t . 

d e n i e d , 528 U.S. 833 (1999). T h i s Court i s s u e d the 

c e r t i f i c a t e of judgment on J a n u a r y 26, 1999. 

On September 27, 2000, Smith f i l e d a Rule 32 p e t i t i o n , 

c h a l l e n g i n g h i s c o n v i c t i o n and s e n t e n c e . 1 Over the course of 

the next s i x y e a r s , Smith f i l e d m u l t i p l e amendments t o h i s 

p e t i t i o n . The S t a t e f i l e d a number of responses t o Smith's 

p e t i t i o n and the amendments t h e r e t o . On March 3, 2004, the 

c i r c u i t c o u r t conducted a h e a r i n g on the S t a t e ' s motion t o 

d i s m i s s . On J u l y 15, 2004, the c i r c u i t c o u r t summarily 

d i s m i s s e d a number of Smith's c l a i m s on p r o c e d u r a l and/or 

p l e a d i n g grounds. On November 6, 2006, the c i r c u i t c o u r t 

conducted an e v i d e n t i a r y h e a r i n g on the remainder of Smith's 

c l a i m s . On J a n u a r y 12, 2007, the c i r c u i t c o u r t i s s u e d a 

d e t a i l e d w r i t t e n o r d e r g r a n t i n g Smith's Rule 32 p e t i t i o n and 

1 A l t h o u g h the l i m i t a t i o n s p e r i o d i n Rule 3 2 . 2 ( c ) , 
Ala.R.Crim.P., c u r r e n t l y p r o v i d e s f o r a one-year p e r i o d i n 
which the p e t i t i o n must be f i l e d , a t the time Smith f i l e d h i s 
p e t i t i o n the r u l e p r o v i d e d a two-year l i m i t a t i o n s p e r i o d . 
Thus, Smith's Rule 32 p e t i t i o n was t i m e l y f i l e d . 
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o r d e r i n g t h a t a new t r i a l be conducted. T h i s a p p e a l by the 

S t a t e f o l l o w e d . 

T h i s Court s e t out the f o l l o w i n g statement of f a c t s i n 

i t s o p i n i o n i n Smith's d i r e c t a p p e a l : 

" C h i e f I n v e s t i g a t o r Mike W h i t t e n of the M a r s h a l l 
County S h e r i f f ' s Department t e s t i f i e d t h a t he 
r e c e i v e d a r e p o r t on September 29, 1994, t h a t Dennis 
H a r r i s was m i s s i n g . He s t a t e d t h a t he then began t o 
t a l k w i t h v a r i o u s i n d i v i d u a l s and d e termined t h a t 
H a r r i s had l a s t been seen on September 23, 1994. 
W h i t t e n t e s t i f i e d t h a t on the n i g h t of October 3, 
1994, he r e c e i v e d a r e p o r t t h a t H a r r i s ' s body had 
been d i s c o v e r e d . At a p p r o x i m a t e l y 11:00 p.m., 
W h i t t e n l o c a t e d H a r r i s ' s body i n a wooded area i n 
M a r s h a l l County, a p p r o x i m a t e l y 100 yards from a d i r t 
road. He t e s t i f i e d t h a t the a r e a was s e c u r e d and 
t h a t a deputy remained on the scene u n t i l W h i t t e n 
and o t h e r o f f i c i a l s r e t u r n e d e a r l y the f o l l o w i n g 
morning. 

" W h i t t e n s t a t e d t h a t the scene remained 
unchanged o v e r n i g h t and t h a t the weather c o n d i t i o n s 
were c o n s t a n t . Photographs were taken of the body 
and the s u r r o u n d i n g a r e a . W h i t t e n s t a t e d t h a t 
H a r r i s ' s body was l y i n g f a c e down and was b a d l y 
decomposed. He s t a t e d t h a t the head had c o m p l e t e l y 
s e p a r a t e d from the body. The s k u l l was exposed, 
h a v i n g been s e p a r a t e d e n t i r e l y from the s c a l p and 
h a i r . H a r r i s was w e a r i n g a p l a i d s h i r t and shoes 
w i t h no s o c k s . W h i t t e n t e s t i f i e d t h a t i t appeared 
t h a t H a r r i s had d i e d as a r e s u l t of a gunshot wound 
t o the head. 

" W h i t t e n t e s t i f i e d t h a t he began t o i n v e s t i g a t e 
the case as a homicide and a l s o s a i d t h a t he 
q u e s t i o n e d many of the p e o p l e he had spoken w i t h i n 
i n v e s t i g a t i n g the m i s s i n g persons r e p o r t . In the 
course of the i n v e s t i g a t i o n , W h i t t e n l e a r n e d t h a t 
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H a r r i s was a f r i e n d of Smith's and t h a t he was a 
b e s t f r i e n d of Tanya, Smith's w i f e . W h i t t e n s t a t e d 
t h a t he r e c e i v e d a te l e p h o n e c a l l from C a r l Cooper, 
an a c q u a i n t a n c e of b o t h Smith and H a r r i s , and t h a t 
based on the i n f o r m a t i o n Cooper gave him, he 
narrowed h i s i n v e s t i g a t i o n t o Smith. 

"Cooper t e s t i f i e d t h a t he had known Smith f o r 
s i x or seven years and t h a t he had been a c q u a i n t e d 
w i t h H a r r i s f o r a p p r o x i m a t e l y one year . He s t a t e d 
t h a t he met H a r r i s through Smith, and t h a t he had 
a l s o p r e v i o u s l y worked w i t h H a r r i s . Cooper t e s t i f i e d 
t h a t he would see H a r r i s a t Smith's mother's 
apartment or a t H a r r i s ' s apartment. He t e s t i f i e d 
t h a t he had r e a d a newspaper r e p o r t of H a r r i s ' s 
d i s a p p e a r a n c e and t h a t he i n f o r m e d the a u t h o r i t i e s 
of a c o n v e r s a t i o n he had w i t h Smith about p l a n s t o 
rob H a r r i s . Cooper t e s t i f i e d t h a t , b e f o r e the 
murder, he and h i s w i f e d i s c u s s e d w i t h Smith and h i s 
w i f e , Tanya, the i d e a of r o b b i n g H a r r i s of cash. 
Cooper t e s t i f i e d t h a t the p l a n was f o r Smith and him 
t o cover t h e i r f a c e s , h i t H a r r i s i n the head, take 
h i s g l a s s e s ( w i t h o u t which H a r r i s p u r p o r t e d l y c o u l d 
not s e e ) and rob him. Cooper t e s t i f i e d t h a t he 
o r i g i n a l l y thought the i d e a was a j o k e , but t h a t 
when a s i m i l a r c o n v e r s a t i o n took p l a c e a g a i n l a t e r , 
he t o l d Smith t h a t he wanted n o t h i n g t o do w i t h the 
p l a n . Cooper a l s o s t a t e d t h a t he had seen Smith 
borrow money from H a r r i s more than once. 

"Cooper f u r t h e r t e s t i f i e d t h a t he saw Smith w i t h 
a n i c k e l - p l a t e d .25 c a l i b e r s e m i - a u t o m a t i c weapon 
w i t h a b l a c k handle and a b l a c k h o l s t e r . Cooper 
t e s t i f i e d t h a t Smith t o l d him t h a t he had s t o l e n the 
gun from 'a man named L a r r y ' who l i v e d a t the 
O v e r l o o k Mountain Lodge. 

he was l i v i n g a t the O v e r l o o k Mountain Lodge, and 
t h a t Smith l i v e d ' j u s t [ a ] couple doors down.' He 
s t a t e d t h a t i n the summer of 1994, he pu r c h a s e d a 
.25 c a l i b e r chrome gun w i t h a b l a c k handle and a 
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b l a c k h o l s t e r . M o f f e t t t e s t i f i e d t h a t Smith had 
l o o k e d a t the gun and had o f f e r e d t o buy i t . 
M o f f e t t t e s t i f i e d t h a t he d i d not s e l l Smith the 
gun, and t h a t he k e p t i t on the n i g h t s t a n d by h i s 
bed. He s t a t e d t h a t he l a t e r n o t i c e d t h a t the gun 
was m i s s i n g from h i s n i g h t s t a n d . He s a i d t h a t he 
c o n f r o n t e d Smith and t h a t Smith d e n i e d t a k i n g the 
gun. 

"Amanda E l k i n s , a co-worker of H a r r i s ' s , 
t e s t i f i e d t h a t a t a p p r o x i m a t e l y 1:00 a.m. on F r i d a y , 
September 23, 1994, she and H a r r i s l e f t work and 
went t o E l k i n s ' s house, where they watched 
t e l e v i s i o n u n t i l a p p r o x i m a t e l y 4:30 a.m. E l k i n s 
t e s t i f i e d t h a t H a r r i s l e f t and t h a t she never saw 
him a g a i n . She f u r t h e r s t a t e d t h a t when he l e f t , he 
was w e a r i n g gray pants and a r e d p l a i d s h i r t . She 
d i d not become aware of h i s d i s a p p e a r a n c e u n t i l over 
a week l a t e r . 

" K e v i n H a r v i l l e t e s t i f i e d t h a t he had become 
a c q u a i n t e d w i t h H a r r i s a f t e r an aut o m o b i l e a c c i d e n t 
i n v o l v i n g H a r r i s . H a r v i l l e t e s t i f i e d t h a t H a r r i s 
owed him some money as a r e s u l t of the a u t o m o b i l e 
a c c i d e n t . He s t a t e d t h a t s i n c e H a r r i s was p a i d on 
Thursdays, he would go t o h i s room e v e r y F r i d a y t o 
c o l l e c t a payment towards the debt. H a r v i l l e 
t e s t i f i e d t h a t he saw Smith and H a r r i s a t H a r r i s ' s 
h o t e l room on a F r i d a y i n September, sometime 
between 11:30 a.m. and 12:30 p.m. He s t a t e d t h a t he 
r e t u r n e d t o H a r r i s ' s room the f o l l o w i n g F r i d a y ; 
however, H a r r i s d i d not come t o the door. H a r v i l l e 
l a t e r l e a r n e d t h a t H a r r i s had been r e p o r t e d m i s s i n g . 

" B r e n t Wheeler, an e x p e r t i n f i r e a r m s , t e s t i f i e d 
t h a t he examined some b u l l e t s or p r o j e c t i l e s 
d e l i v e r e d t o him i n c o n n e c t i o n w i t h the H a r r i s 
h o m i c i d e . He s t a t e d t h a t he was a b l e t o determine 
t h a t t h e y had been f i r e d from a .25 c a l i b e r 
a u t o m a t i c p i s t o l . Wheeler a l s o t e s t i f i e d t h a t he 
went t o the scene of the murder and d i s c o v e r e d two 
.25 c a l i b e r Remington c a r t r i d g e cases near where the 
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body was l o c a t e d . He t e s t i f i e d t h a t he was a b l e t o 
d etermine t h a t b o t h s h e l l c a s i n g s had been f i r e d 
from the same weapon. 

"Dr. Joseph Embry, the s t a t e m e d i c a l examiner, 
t e s t i f i e d t h a t when he r e c e i v e d H a r r i s ' s body, i t 
was c l o t h e d i n a s h o r t - s l e e v e d p l a i d , r e d d i s h brown 
and t a n s h i r t . He s t a t e d t h a t the head was 
e s s e n t i a l l y s k e l e t o n i z e d . There was a 1/4 i n c h h o l e 
i n the r i g h t s i d e of the back of the s k u l l t h a t 
d i s p l a y e d c h a r a c t e r i s t i c s of a gunshot wound. Dr. 
Embry found a b u l l e t i n s i d e the s k u l l . Dr. Embry 
a l s o t e s t i f i e d c o n c e r n i n g a second gunshot wound i n 
the l e f t cheek area as e v i d e n c e d by bone l o s s 
b e g i n n i n g around the nose and g o i n g out t o the area 
below the eye. He t e s t i f i e d t h a t a second b u l l e t 
was found under the h a i r . However, he t e s t i f i e d 
t h a t the cause of death was the gunshot wound t o the 
head. 

" W h i t t e n t e s t i f i e d t h a t he was a b l e t o v e r i f y 
t h a t a gun matching the d e s c r i p t i o n g i v e n t o him by 
Cooper had been s t o l e n from L a r r y M o f f e t t . W h i t t e n 
s t a t e d t h a t on October 11, 1994, he o b t a i n e d an 
a r r e s t w a r r a n t f o r Smith and t h a t he a r r e s t e d Smith 
a t h i s mother's t r a i l e r i n DeKalb County. Smith was 
a r r e s t e d f o r the murder of H a r r i s and was t aken t o 
the A l b e r t v i l l e P o l i c e Department where he was 
i n f o r m e d of h i s r i g h t s and was q u e s t i o n e d . W h i t t e n 
t e s t i f i e d t h a t Smith was q u e s t i o n e d on two s e p a r a t e 
o c c a s i o n s , once by him and once by h i s b r o t h e r , Andy 
W h i t t e n . O f f i c e r Mike W h i t t e n was p r e s e n t d u r i n g 
b o t h i n t e r v i e w s and s t a t e d t h a t Smith was i n f o r m e d 

each 
a 

o f , and v o l u n t a r i l y waived, h i s r i g h t s b e f o r e e 
i n t e r v i e w . W h i t t e n s t a t e d t h a t Smith gave 
t a p e - r e c o r d e d statement a d m i t t i n g t o r o b b i n g and 
k i l l i n g H a r r i s . " 

Smith v. S t a t e , 727 So. 2d a t 152-53 ( f o o t n o t e o m i t t e d ) . 
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On a p p e a l , the S t a t e argues t h a t the c i r c u i t c o u r t e r r e d 

i n g r a n t i n g Smith's Rule 32 p e t i t i o n f o r a number of reas o n s . 

S p e c i f i c a l l y , the S t a t e contends t h a t the c i r c u i t c o u r t e r r e d 

i n f i n d i n g c o u n s e l ' s performance i n e f f e c t i v e f o r v a r i o u s 

r e a s o n s ; t h a t the c i r c u i t c o u r t e r r o n e o u s l y a p p l i e d i n c o r r e c t 

s t a n d a r d s of l a w ; and t h a t the c i r c u i t c o u r t made erroneous 

f i n d i n g s of f a c t and reached i n c o r r e c t c o n c l u s i o n s of law. 

A l t h o u g h we agree w i t h the S t a t e t h a t the c i r c u i t c o u r t ' s 

o r d e r c o n t a i n s some erroneous f i n d i n g s , f o r the f o l l o w i n g 

r e a s o n s , we a f f i r m the c i r c u i t c o u r t ' s judgment g r a n t i n g the 

Rule 32 p e t i t i o n and o r d e r i n g a new t r i a l . 

Because the ev i d e n c e p r e s e n t e d a t the e v i d e n t i a r y h e a r i n g 

i n t h i s case was c o n f l i c t i n g , we employ the abuse-of-

d i s c r e t i o n s t a n d a r d of r e v i e w . See S t a t e v. Hamlet 913 So. 2d 

493, 497 ( A l a . Crim. App. 2005) ("When c o n f l i c t i n g e v i d e n c e i s 

p r e s e n t e d ... a presumption of c o r r e c t n e s s i s a p p l i e d t o the 

c o u r t ' s f a c t u a l d e t e r m i n a t i o n s , and the y w i l l not be d i s t u r b e d 

u n l e s s they are c l e a r l y e r r o n e o u s . " ) ; and Hunt v. S t a t e , 940 

So. 2d 1041, 1049 ( A l a . Crim. App. 2005) ("The s t a n d a r d of 

re v i e w t h i s C ourt uses i n e v a l u a t i n g the r u l i n g s made by the 

t r i a l c o u r t i s whether the t r i a l c o u r t abused i t s 
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d i s c r e t i o n . " ) . A d d i t i o n a l l y , "when r e v i e w i n g a c i r c u i t 

c o u r t ' s r u l i n g s made i n a p o s t c o n v i c t i o n p e t i t i o n , we may 

a f f i r m a r u l i n g i f i t i s c o r r e c t f o r any r e a s o n . " Bush v.  

S t a t e , [Ms. CR-03-1902, May 29, 2009] So. 3d , 

( A l a . Crim. App. 2009). 

In S t r i c k l a n d v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984), 

the U n i t e d S t a t e s Supreme Court a r t i c u l a t e d two c r i t e r i a t h a t 

must be s a t i s f i e d t o show i n e f f e c t i v e a s s i s t a n c e of c o u n s e l . 

A defendant has the burden of showing (1) t h a t h i s c o u n s e l ' s 

performance was d e f i c i e n t and (2) t h a t the d e f i c i e n t 

performance a c t u a l l y p r e j u d i c e d the defense. To prove 

p r e j u d i c e , " [ t ] h e defendant must show t h a t t h e r e i s a 

r e a s o n a b l e p r o b a b i l i t y t h a t , but f o r c o u n s e l ' s u n p r o f e s s i o n a l 

e r r o r s , the r e s u l t of the p r o c e e d i n g would have been 

d i f f e r e n t . " 466 U.S. a t 694. "A r e a s o n a b l e p r o b a b i l i t y i s a 

p r o b a b i l i t y s u f f i c i e n t t o undermine c o n f i d e n c e i n the 

outcome." I d . Furthermore, "a c o u r t must i n d u l g e a s t r o n g 

p r e s umption t h a t c o u n s e l ' s conduct f a l l s w i t h i n the wide range 

of r e a s o n a b l e p r o f e s s i o n a l a s s i s t a n c e . " 466 U.S. a t 689. 

" ' J u d i c i a l s c r u t i n y of c o u n s e l ' s 
performance must be h i g h l y d e f e r e n t i a l . I t 
i s a l l too t e m p t i n g f o r a defendant t o 
second-guess c o u n s e l ' s a s s i s t a n c e a f t e r 

8 



CR-06-0898 

c o n v i c t i o n or adverse sentence, and i t i s 
a l l too easy f o r a c o u r t , examining 
c o u n s e l ' s defense a f t e r i t has p r o v e d 
u n s u c c e s s f u l , t o conclude t h a t a p a r t i c u l a r 
a c t or o m i s s i o n of c o u n s e l was 
u n r e a s o n a b l e . Cf. Engle v. I s a a c , 456 U.S. 
107, 133-34, 102 S.Ct. 1558, 71 L.Ed.2d 783 
(1982). A f a i r assessment of a t t o r n e y 
performance r e q u i r e s t h a t e v e r y e f f o r t be 
made t o e l i m i n a t e the d i s t o r t i n g e f f e c t s of 
h i n d s i g h t , t o r e c o n s t r u c t the c i r c u m s t a n c e s 
of c o u n s e l ' s c h a l l e n g e d conduct, and t o 
e v a l u a t e the conduct from c o u n s e l ' s 
p e r s p e c t i v e a t the t i m e . Because of the 
d i f f i c u l t i e s i n h e r e n t i n making the 
e v a l u a t i o n , a c o u r t must i n d u l g e a s t r o n g 
p r e s umption t h a t c o u n s e l ' s conduct f a l l s 
w i t h i n the wide range of r e a s o n a b l e 
p r o f e s s i o n a l a s s i s t a n c e ; t h a t i s , the 
defendant must overcome the p r e s u m p t i o n 
t h a t , under the c i r c u m s t a n c e s , the 
c h a l l e n g e d a c t i o n "might be c o n s i d e r e d 
sound t r i a l s t r a t e g y . " See M i c h e l v.  
L o u i s i a n a , [350 U.S. 91] a t 101 ( 1 9 5 5 ) ] . 
There are c o u n t l e s s ways t o p r o v i d e 
e f f e c t i v e a s s i s t a n c e i n any g i v e n case. 
Even the b e s t c r i m i n a l defense a t t o r n e y s 
would not defend a p a r t i c u l a r c l i e n t i n the 
same way.' 

" S t r i c k l a n d v. Washington, 466 U.S. a t 689. 

" ' " ' T h i s c o u r t must a v o i d u s i n g " h i n d s i g h t " 
t o e v a l u a t e the performance of c o u n s e l . We 
must e v a l u a t e a l l the c i r c u m s t a n c e s 
s u r r o u n d i n g the case a t the time of 
c o u n s e l ' s a c t i o n s b e f o r e d e t e r m i n i n g 
whether c o u n s e l r e n d e r e d i n e f f e c t i v e 
a s s i s t a n c e . ' " Lawhorn v. S t a t e , 756 So. 2d 
971, 979 (Ala.Crim.App. 1999), q u o t i n g 
H a l l f o r d v. S t a t e , 629 So. 2d 6, 9 
(Ala.Crim.App. 1992). "[A] c o u r t must 
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i n d u l g e a s t r o n g presumption t h a t c o u n s e l ' s 
conduct f a l l s w i t h i n the wide range of 
r e a s o n a b l e p r o f e s s i o n a l a s s i s t a n c e . " 
S t r i c k l a n d , 466 U.S. a t 689, 104 S.Ct. 
2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674.' 

"A.G. v. S t a t e , 989 So. 2d 1167, 1171 ( A l a . Crim. 
App. 2 0 0 7 ) . " 

Lee v. S t a t e , [MS. CR-07-0054, Oct. 9, 2009] So. 3d , 

( A l a . Crim. App. 2009). 

"[T]he purpose of i n e f f e c t i v e n e s s r e v i e w i s not t o 
grade c o u n s e l ' s performance. See S t r i c k l a n d [v.  
Washington] , [466 U.S. 668,] 104 S.Ct. [2052] a t 
2065 [ ( 1 9 8 4 ) ] ; see a l s o White v. S i n g l e t a r y , 972 
F.2d 1218, 1221 (11th C i r . 1992) ('We are not 
i n t e r e s t e d i n g r a d i n g l a w y e r s ' performances; we are 
i n t e r e s t e d i n whether the a d v e r s a r i a l p r o c e s s a t 
t r i a l , i n f a c t , worked a d e q u a t e l y . ' ) . We r e c o g n i z e 
t h a t ' [ r ] e p r e s e n t a t i o n i s an a r t , and an a c t or 
o m i s s i o n t h a t i s u n p r o f e s s i o n a l i n one case may be 
sound or even b r i l l i a n t i n a n o t h e r . ' S t r i c k l a n d , 104 
S.Ct. a t 2067. D i f f e r e n t l a w y e r s have d i f f e r e n t 
g i f t s ; t h i s f a c t , as w e l l as d i f f e r i n g c i r c u m s t a n c e s 
from case t o case, means the range of what might be 
a r e a s o n a b l e approach a t t r i a l must be broad. To 
s t a t e the o b v i o u s : the t r i a l l a w y e r s , i n e v e r y case, 
c o u l d have done something more or something 
d i f f e r e n t . So, o m i s s i o n s are i n e v i t a b l e . But, the 
i s s u e i s not what i s p o s s i b l e or 'what i s prudent or 
a p p r o p r i a t e , but o n l y what i s c o n s t i t u t i o n a l l y 
c o m p e l l e d . ' Burger v. Kemp, 483 U.S. 776, 107 S.Ct. 
3114, 3126, 97 L.Ed.2d 638 (1987)." 

Chandler v. U n i t e d S t a t e s , 218 F.3d 1305, 1318-19 (11th C i r . 

2000) ( f o o t n o t e s o m i t t e d ) . 

"While c o u n s e l has a duty t o i n v e s t i g a t e i n an 
attempt t o l o c a t e e v i d e n c e f a v o r a b l e t o the 
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defendant, ' t h i s duty o n l y r e q u i r e s a r e a s o n a b l e 
i n v e s t i g a t i o n . ' S i n g l e t o n v. Thigpen, 847 F.2d 668, 
669 (11th C i r . (Ala.) 1988), c e r t . d e n i e d , 488 U.S. 
1019, 109 S.Ct. 822, 102 L.Ed.2d 812 (1989) 
(emphasis added). See S t r i c k l a n d , 466 U.S. a t 691, 
104 S.Ct. a t 2066; M o r r i s o n v. S t a t e , 551 So. 2d 435 
( A l a . Cr. App. 1989), c e r t . d e n i e d , 495 U.S. 911, 
110 S.Ct. 1938, 109 L.Ed.2d 301 (1990). Counsel's 
o b l i g a t i o n i s t o conduct a ' s u b s t a n t i a l 
i n v e s t i g a t i o n i n t o each of the p l a u s i b l e l i n e s of 
defens e . ' S t r i c k l a n d , 466 U.S. a t 681, 104 S.Ct. a t 
2061 (emphasis added). 'A s u b s t a n t i a l i n v e s t i g a t i o n 
i s j u s t what the term i m p l i e s ; i t does not demand 
t h a t c o u n s e l d i s c o v e r e v e r y s h r e d of e v i d e n c e but 
t h a t a r e a s o n a b l e i n q u i r y i n t o a l l p l a u s i b l e 
d efenses be made.' I d . , 466 U.S. a t 686, 104 S.Ct. 
at 2063." 

Jones v. S t a t e , 753 So. 2d 1174, 1191 ( A l a . Crim. App. 1999). 

With these p r i n c i p l e s i n mind, we now l o o k t o the S t a t e ' s 

c l a i m s on a p p e a l . 

The S t a t e , i n i t s i n i t i a l b r i e f , sought a d e t e r m i n a t i o n 

by t h i s C ourt as t o whether the American Bar A s s o c i a t i o n 

("ABA") g u i d e l i n e s and the E q u a l J u s t i c e I n i t i a t i v e ("EJI") 

t r i a l manual p r o v i d e the g u i d i n g r u l e s and s t a n d a r d s f o r 

r e v i e w i n g i n e f f e c t i v e - a s s i s t a n c e - o f - c o u n s e l c l a i m s . However, 

i n i t s r e p l y b r i e f , the S t a t e acknowledged t h a t , a f t e r the 

f i l i n g of the S t a t e ' s i n i t i a l b r i e f , t h i s C ourt has h e l d i n 

another case: 
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"Although the ABA g u i d e l i n e s may, i n some i n s t a n c e s , 
p r o v i d e guidance as t o what i s r e a s o n a b l e i n terms 
of c o u n s e l ' s r e p r e s e n t a t i o n , t h e y are not 
d e t e r m i n a t i v e . R a t h e r , the two-pronged a n a l y s i s s e t 
f o r t h i n S t r i c k l a n d remains the s t a n d a r d f o r 
d e c i d i n g i n e f f e c t i v e - a s s i s t a n c e - o f - c o u n s e l c l a i m s . 
Such a s t a n d a r d i s s u f f i c i e n t t o p r o t e c t a 
defendant's r i g h t s t o b o t h c o u n s e l and due p r o c e s s . " 

Jones v. S t a t e , [Ms. CR-05-0527, Aug. 31, 2007] So. 3d 

, ( A l a . Crim. App. 2007). 2 Indeed, as the U n i t e d 

S t a t e s Supreme Court has a r t i c u l a t e d , " [ p ] r e v a i l i n g norms of 

p r a c t i c e as r e f l e c t e d i n American Bar A s s o c i a t i o n s t a n d a r d s 

and the l i k e , e.g., ABA Standards of C r i m i n a l J u s t i c e 4-1.1 t o 

4-8.6 (2d ed. 1980) ('The Defense F u n c t i o n ' ) , are g u i d e s t o 

d e t e r m i n i n g what i s r e a s o n a b l e , but t h e y are o n l y g u i d e s . " 

S t r i c k l a n d , 466 U.S. a t 688. Thus, t h i s q u e s t i o n , as the 

S t a t e concedes i n i t s r e p l y b r i e f , has been add r e s s e d by 

p r e v i o u s l e g a l a u t h o r i t y . F u r t h e r , the c i r c u i t c o u r t ' s o r d e r 

i n d i c a t e s t h a t i t e v a l u a t e d Smith's c l a i m s p u r s u a n t t o the 

r e q u i r e m e n t s of S t r i c k l a n d . 

I I . 

2The i s s u e p r e s e n t e d i n Jones was whether t r i a l c o u n s e l 
s h o u l d be found per se i n e f f e c t i v e f o r f a i l i n g t o comply w i t h 
the ABA g u i d e l i n e s , which Alabama has not adopted. 
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The S t a t e argues t h a t the c i r c u i t c o u r t i m p r o p e r l y judged 

t r i a l c o u n s e l ' s e f f o r t s a g a i n s t those of Smith's Rule 32 

c o u n s e l . Such a comparison, the S t a t e c o r r e c t l y a v e r s , i s 

i n e q u i t a b l e , because t r i a l c o u n s e l was a c t i n g w i t h one s e t of 

c i r c u m s t a n c e s -- i . e . , the knowledge, i n f o r m a t i o n , r e s o u r c e s , 

and time l i m i t a t i o n s t r i a l c o u n s e l was o p e r a t i n g under i n 1995 

-- whereas Rule 32 c o u n s e l ' s i n v e s t i g a t i o n was conducted w i t h 

the b e n e f i t of h i n d s i g h t , a l a r g e r timeframe, and s u b s t a n t i a l 

r e s o u r c e s . G e n e r a l l y s p e a k i n g , the S t a t e ' s a s s e r t i o n s 

r e g a r d i n g the s t a n d a r d of r e v i e w are c o r r e c t . See, e.g., Lee, 

s u p r a . However, based on our r e v i e w of the r e c o r d , we h o l d 

t h a t the c i r c u i t c o u r t d i d not i m p e r m i s s i b l y judge t r i a l 

c o u n s e l ' s performance a g a i n s t the performance of Smith's Rule 

32 c o u n s e l . R a t h e r , we conclude t h a t the c i r c u i t c o u r t , i n 

i t s e x t r e m e l y l e n g t h y and d e t a i l e d o r d e r , s i m p l y d e t e r m i n e d 

from the t e s t i m o n y and e v i d e n c e p r e s e n t e d a t the e v i d e n t i a r y 

h e a r i n g on Smith's Rule 32 p e t i t i o n t h a t c o u n s e l had not 

p r o v i d e d e f f e c t i v e a s s i s t a n c e based on c o u n s e l ' s knowledge, 

the time c o n s t r a i n t s c o u n s e l f a c e d , and the r e s o u r c e s 

a v a i l a b l e t o c o u n s e l a t the time of t r i a l . 

I I I . 
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To the e x t e n t t h a t the c i r c u i t c o u r t found t h a t , p u r s u a n t 

t o the ABA g u i d e l i n e s , Jack D a n i e l , Smith's t r i a l c o u n s e l , was 

not q u a l i f i e d as a m a t t e r of law t o r e p r e s e n t Smith a t t r i a l , 

such a f i n d i n g i s i n c o r r e c t . As the S t a t e c o r r e c t l y n o t e s , 

§ 13A-5-54, A l a . Code 1975, p r o v i d e s t h a t i n d i g e n t c a p i t a l -

murder defendants "must be p r o v i d e d w i t h c o u r t a p p o i n t e d 

c o u n s e l h a v i n g no l e s s than f i v e y e a r s ' p r i o r e x p e r i e n c e i n 

the a c t i v e p r a c t i c e of c r i m i n a l law." D a n i e l met t h i s 

s t a t u t o r y r e q u i r e m e n t . F u r t h e r , as the S t a t e a l s o n o t e s , 

D a n i e l was r e t a i n e d , not a p p o i n t e d , and i t appears t h a t the 

o n l y l e g a l r equirement p e r t a i n i n g t o r e t a i n e d c o u n s e l i s t h a t 

c o u n s e l be l i c e n s e d t o p r a c t i c e law i n the j u r i s d i c t i o n . 

However, i n l i g h t of the e x t e n s i v e f i n d i n g s made by the 

c i r c u i t c o u r t and the numerous grounds r e l i e d upon by the 

c i r c u i t c o u r t i n g r a n t i n g Smith's p e t i t i o n , we h o l d t h a t t h i s 

e r r o r by the c i r c u i t c o u r t does not render i t s u l t i m a t e 

c o n c l u s i o n t h a t c o u n s e l was i n e f f e c t i v e a t t r i a l e r r o n e o u s . 3 

IV. 

3 N o t h i n g i n t h i s o p i n i o n s h o u l d be c o n s t r u e d as making any 
s o r t of " c u m u l a t i v e e r r o r " f i n d i n g w i t h r e g a r d t o Smith's 
a l l e g a t i o n s t h a t the c u m u l a t i v e e f f e c t of v a r i o u s i n s t a n c e s of 
i n e f f e c t i v e a s s i s t a n c e of c o u n s e l amounted t o p r e j u d i c i a l 
e r r o r . 
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The S t a t e , c i t i n g a number of s p e c i f i c examples, contends 

t h a t the c i r c u i t c o u r t i m p r o p e r l y d i s c o u n t e d t r i a l c o u n s e l ' s 

t e s t i m o n y a t the e v i d e n t i a r y h e a r i n g . 

A. 

The S t a t e c h a l l e n g e s the c i r c u i t c o u r t ' s f i n d i n g t h a t 

t r i a l c o u n s e l d i d not conduct an adequate p r e t r i a l 

i n v e s t i g a t i o n . The S t a t e contends t h a t c o u n s e l ' s a b i l i t y t o 

i n v e s t i g a t e was hampered by Smith's f a m i l y ' s f a i l u r e t o pay 

the agreed-upon r a t e f o r a t t o r n e y ' s f e e s e i t h e r i n a t i m e l y 

manner o r , f o r t h a t m a t t e r , f u l l y . 4 The S t a t e f u r t h e r avers 

t h a t the c i r c u i t c o u r t d i s c o u n t e d or i g n o r e d t r i a l c o u n s e l ' s 

t e s t i m o n y r e g a r d i n g the e f f o r t s he d i d make i n i n v e s t i g a t i n g 

the case. The c i r c u i t c o u r t t h o r o u g h l y s e t out the e v i d e n c e 

4The ev i d e n c e a t the e v i d e n t i a r y h e a r i n g i n d i c a t e d t h a t 
Smith's aunt, Ms. B u r k e t t , h i r e d D a n i e l s a p p r o x i m a t e l y s i x 
months b e f o r e the t r i a l began and t h a t the agreement c a l l e d 
f o r the f a m i l y t o pay D a n i e l s an i n i t i a l fee of $25,000 p l u s 
$125 per hour once the $25,000 had been earned. The c i r c u i t 
c o u r t found t h a t D a n i e l s had a l s o b i l l e d Smith's f a m i l y f o r 
" p a r a l e g a l expenses ($378 f o r 12.6 hours of time) and f o r 
i n v e s t i g a t i v e expenses ($209 f o r 5 hours of time and r e l a t e d 
e x p e n s e s ) . (Ex. 11.) He a l s o b i l l e d Smith's f a m i l y f o r 
c o p y i n g c o s t s ($187.76), f o r l o n g - d i s t a n c e t e l e p h o n e charges 
($59.45), and f o r o t h e r o u t - o f - p o c k e t expenses he says he 
i n c u r r e d d e f e n d i n g Smith. (Exs. 10 and 11; C. 17.) 
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p r e s e n t e d a t the e v i d e n t i a r y h e a r i n g and made d e t a i l e d 

f i n d i n g s of f a c t i n i t s o r d e r g r a n t i n g the Rule 32 p e t i t i o n . 

"13. A c c o r d i n g t o Mr. D a n i e l ' s a c c o u n t i n g , he 
d i d not r e c e i v e payments from Ms. B u r k e t t [Smith's 
aunt] i n a t i m e l y manner (Hrg. Tr. 450:1-8), and he 
became d i s t u r b e d t h a t Ms. B u r k e t t was f a l l i n g i n t o 
a r r e a r s ( i d . a t 455:1-4). Mr. D a n i e l e x p r e s s e d h i s 
unhappiness i n a s e r i e s of l e t t e r s t o Ms. B u r k e t t , 
i n c l u d i n g one d a t e d August 4, 1995, l e s s than one 
week b e f o r e the s t a r t of Mr. Smith's t r i a l , which 
re a d i n p a r t as f o l l o w s : 'I cannot a f f o r d t o 
b a n k r o l l t h i s case. I do not need t o f a c e the next 
week w o r r y i n g about your f a i l u r e t o reimburse me f o r 
these expenses r a t h e r than c o n c e n t r a t i n g on the 
f i n a l p r e p a r a t i o n and a c t u a l p r e s e n t a t i o n of L a r r y ' s 
t r i a l . ' ( I d . a t 453:22-455:12; Ex. 11). 

"14. In h i s t e s t i m o n y b e f o r e the Court d u r i n g 
the November 2006 h e a r i n g , Mr. D a n i e l made a s e r i e s 
of c l a i m s about h i s e f f o r t s t o l o c a t e and t a l k t o 
w i t n e s s e s t o a i d Mr. Smith's defense a g a i n s t the 
S t a t e ' s charges. 'We had a whole l i s t of p e o p l e , ' 
he s a i d . 'We were t r y i n g t o f i n d anybody and 
everybody who c o u l d t e l l us as much as they c o u l d 
about [the H a r r i s murder].' (Hrg. Tr. 407:20-23). 
'[W]e undertook an i n v e s t i g a t i o n . We t a l k e d t o a l o t 
of p e o p l e . ' ( I d . 512:8-9). '[W]e t a l k e d t o a l o t of 
p e o p l e , a l o t of p e o p l e . [Q:] And how many would you 
say a l o t i s ? [A:] I can't even b e g i n t o g i v e a 
number. I t was a l o t . I mean, we t a l k e d t o everybody 
we c o u l d t a l k t o save t h a t boy's l i f e . ' ( I d . a t 
514:3-7). For the f o l l o w i n g reasons, the Court 
f i n d s t h a t Mr. D a n i e l ' s sweeping c l a i m s about h i s 
and o t h e r s ' e f f o r t s t o f i n d and t a l k t o w i t n e s s e s 
are not s u p p o r t e d by the e v i d e n c e . 

"a) E f f o r t s by Mr. D a n i e l 

"15. None of the w i t n e s s e s Mr. Smith c a l l e d t o 
t e s t i f y a t the November 2006 h e a r i n g -- w i t h the 
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e x c e p t i o n of Mr. Smith's mother -- r e c a l l e d meeting 
w i t h or s p e a k i n g t o Mr. D a n i e l or any person i n h i s 
employ, a l t h o u g h t h e y a l l i n d i c a t e d they were 
a v a i l a b l e and would have been w i l l i n g t o d i s c u s s the 
case i n the months p r i o r t o the t r i a l had the y been 
approached. (Hrg. Tr. 297:23-298:6 (Sarah Johnson); 
308:11-17 (Kevin H a r v i l l e ) ; 323:22-324:6 ( C a r r i e 
B u t l e r ) ; 349:21-350:4 (Wanda Chambers); 369:9-370:1 
(Ralph W i l l i n g h a m ) ; 385:17-386:1 (Amber S t e e l e ) ; 
557:7-558:12 (Roger Edgeworth)). 

"16. To r e b u t the e v i d e n c e t h a t Mr. D a n i e l 
conducted l i t t l e or no p r e t r i a l i n v e s t i g a t i o n , the 
S t a t e c a l l e d Mr. D a n i e l h i m s e l f t o t e s t i f y . In h i s 
t e s t i m o n y , Mr. D a n i e l d e s c r i b e d h i s e f f o r t s on Mr. 
Smith's b e h a l f o n l y i n the b r o a d e s t g e n e r a l i t i e s . 
When asked r e p e a t e d l y , b o t h i n d i r e c t and on c r o s s -
e x a m i n a t i o n , t o i d e n t i f y the persons he spoke w i t h , 
Mr. D a n i e l c o u l d p r o v i d e n e i t h e r the names of the 
persons he c l a i m s he spoke t o nor any d e t a i l s about 
those c o n v e r s a t i o n s . (Hrg. Tr. 403:20-24; 512:6-10). 
Mr. D a n i e l produced n e i t h e r c o p i e s of any l i s t s of 
p r o s p e c t i v e w i t n e s s e s nor i n t e r v i e w notes from 
meetings w i t h any w i t n e s s e s from h i s f i l e s t o 
supp o r t h i s sweeping, g e n e r a l c l a i m s . Mr. D a n i e l 
c l a i m e d such notes would have been taken d u r i n g 
w i t n e s s i n t e r v i e w s and, i f they e x i s t e d , would have 
r e s i d e d i n h i s f i l e . ( I d . a t 464:3-12). 

"17. Mr. D a n i e l i n i t i a l l y s a i d t h a t he t r i e d t o 
' d i s c o v e r or i n v e s t i g a t e ' 'about 20' peo p l e as p a r t 
of h i s p r e t r i a l i n v e s t i g a t i o n . (Hrg. Tr-408:7-9). 
But l a t e r he e q u i v o c a t e d , s a y i n g t h a t w h i l e he 
thought he gave h i s i n v e s t i g a t o r , W a l t e r S p a i n , 20 
names, 'I don't know what we gave him.' ( I d . a t 
507:15-18). Mr. D a n i e l s a i d i n i t i a l l y : 'We t r i e d t o 
t a l k t o s e v e r a l p e o p l e d u r i n g t h a t time A l o t 
of these p e o p l e t r i e d t o make themselves s c a r c e 
They d i d n ' t want t o t a l k t o us.' ( I d . a t 
407:14-17). L a t e r , when asked: 'Did you ever have 
someone t e l l you the y weren't g o i n g t o t a l k t o you 
about the case?' Mr. D a n i e l r e p l i e d : 'Not so much 
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t h a t we weren't g o i n g t o t a l k , b u t , you know, they 
were j u s t -- the y were j u s t r e a l e v a s i v e . ' ( I d . a t 
415:23-416:2). 

"18. A t one p o i n t , Mr. D a n i e l a d m i t t e d on c r o s s -
e x a m i n a t i o n t h a t h i s i n v e s t i g a t i o n , i f t h e r e was 
one, was q u i t e l i m i t e d : 

"'Q: Because of t h a t c o n f e s s i o n , you d i d n ' t 
r e a l l y b e l i e v e t h e r e was much need t o 
i n v e s t i g a t e o t h e r i s s u e s r e l a t e d t o [Mr. 
Smith's] g u i l t , d i d you? 

"'A: The way i t l o o k e d on the f a c e of i t 
and through e v e r y t h i n g t h a t we got, I mean, 
t h a t was the case, I mean, you tak e a case 
a p a r t and l o o k a t the b a l l i s t i c s . They 
d i d n ' t have any b a l l i s t i c s ; f o r e n s i c 
s c i e n c e end of i t ; the body; the way 
e v e r y t h i n g was --

"'Q: -- J u s t so we can keep the r e c o r d 
c l e a r , I take i t t h a t means t h a t your focus 
i n the i n v e s t i g a t i o n was on the c o n f e s s i o n ? 

"'A: R i g h t . 

"'Q: And not on o t h e r m a t t e r s ? 

"'A: R i g h t . ' 

"(Hrg. Tr. 460:23-461:11). 

"19. When Mr. D a n i e l d i d say he remembered 
s p e a k i n g t o a p a r t i c u l a r p e r s o n , or i n v e s t i g a t i n g a 
p a r t i c u l a r f a c t , what he remembered was t r i a l 
t e s t i m o n y -- not a n y t h i n g t h a t o c c u r r e d i n h i s 
p u r p o r t e d p r e t r i a l i n v e s t i g a t i o n . For example, when 
asked 'Do you remember s p e a k i n g w i t h anyone named 
Amanda E l k i n s ? ' Mr. D a n i e l answered: 'Yeah, she was 
on c r o s s - e x a m i n a t i o n , but I can't remember -- r e a l l y 
remember what the g i s t of her t e s t i m o n y was.' (Hrg. 
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Tr. 417:12-16) (emphasis added). When asked 'Do you 
remember s p e a k i n g t o [Ray Thomas]?' Mr. D a n i e l 
answered: 'Yeah, and I b e l i e v e t h a t was -- t h e r e was 
some s t r a n g e t e s t i m o n y i n t h a t case and I t h i n k he 
was one of the ones t h a t he t r i e d t o i n s i n u a t e t h a t 
t h e r e was some k i n d of homosexual r e l a t i o n s h i p g o i n g 
on between Mr. H a r r i s and my c l i e n t , which I thought 
was t o t a l l y r i d i c u l o u s . ' ( I d . a t 417:17-24) 
(emphasis added). 5 And when asked 'Did you ever 
i n v e s t i g a t e the f a c t t h a t someone may have l o a n e d 
L a r r y money the day the v i c t i m d i s a p p e a r e d t o make 
a c a r payment?' Mr. D a n i e l answered: 'There was some  
t e s t i m o n y about t h a t , but I f o r g o t who i t was -- who 
gave t h a t t e s t i m o n y . ' ( I d . 418:18-23) (emphasis 
added). In each case, Mr. D a n i e l d i d not remember 
-- and h i s t e s t i m o n y d i d not r e f l e c t -- t h a t he 
conducted any p r e t r i a l i n v e s t i g a t i o n . He remembered 
o n l y what happened a t the t r i a l i t s e l f . 

"20. The Court notes t h a t one reason Mr. D a n i e l 
may have confused h i s p u r p o r t e d p r e t r i a l 
i n v e s t i g a t i o n w i t h the a c t u a l t r i a l t e s t i m o n y of 
w i t n e s s e s may be t h a t he t r e a t e d them as one and the 
same. As noted, the o n l y w i t n e s s t o t e s t i f y b e f o r e 
t h i s C ourt a t the November 2006 h e a r i n g who had ever 
spoken t o Mr. D a n i e l was Mr. Smith's mother, S h e r r y 
M i l l e r . She was the f i r s t w i t n e s s Mr. D a n i e l c a l l e d 
d u r i n g the defense case a t the g u i l t - p h a s e of Mr. 
Smith's t r i a l . ( T r i a l Tr. 1247:23-1248:2). Yet Mr. 
D a n i e l never met nor spoke w i t h Ms. M i l l e r u n t i l the 
morning t h a t Mr. Smith's t r i a l s t a r t e d . (Hrg. Tr. 
529:12-22). And he spent no time p r e p a r i n g her f o r 
her t e s t i m o n y . ( I d . a t 530:2-6). 

"b) E f f o r t s by peo p l e employed by Mr. 
D a n i e l 

"21. Mr. D a n i e l a l s o c l a i m e d t h a t he employed 
o t h e r s t o a s s i s t w i t h the i n v e s t i g a t i o n and 
p r e p a r a t i o n of t h i s case. The o n l y persons employed 
by Mr. D a n i e l , however, were Jan W i l b u r n , B r i d g e t t e 
Browning, A n g e l a Smith and W a l t e r S p a i n . Of t h e s e , 
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o n l y Mr. Spain was i n v o l v e d i n any p r e t r i a l 
i n v e s t i g a t i v e work. (Hrg. Tr. 456:10-22; 457:1-14; 
476:2-477:3). 

"22. Jan W i l b u r n i s Mr. D a n i e l ' s e x - w i f e . (Hrg. 
Tr. 476:7-8). A c c o r d i n g t o Mr. D a n i e l , ' [ s ] h e 
h a n d l e d the a c c o u n t s , bookkeeping, some of the 
t y p i n g . B a s i c a l l y , she was the o f f i c e manager a t the 
t i m e . ' ( I d . a t 476:10-12). Mr. D a n i e l conceded 
t h a t Ms. W i l b u r n was not an i n v e s t i g a t o r ( i d . a t 
476:13-14), and the Court f i n d s t h a t she d i d not 
make any e f f o r t t o l o c a t e or speak t o any w i t n e s s e s 
t o p r e p a r e Mr. Smith's case. 

"23. B r i d g e t t e Browning worked as a l e g a l 
a s s i s t a n t i n Mr. D a n i e l ' s o f f i c e . (Hrg. Tr. 
476:15-16). Mr. D a n i e l d e s c r i b e d her as someone who 
' b a s i c a l l y a s s i s t e d me w i t h the t r i a l , she was 
h u n t i n g some people down.' ( I d . a t 408:18-20). 
'Her main du t y , ' he s a i d , 'was o r g a n i z i n g the f i l e 
t r y i n g t o , you know, get p o t e n t i a l w i t n e s s p r o s p e c t s 
l i n e d up, f i n d i n g them; making phone c a l l s and 
g e t t i n g t h i s -- h e l p i n g get t h i s case ready t o go t o 
c o u r t . ' ( I d . a t 410:6-10). That work, however, was 
performed a t the t r i a l i t s e l f -- i t was not p a r t of 
any p r e t r i a l i n v e s t i g a t i o n . ( I d . a t 464:21-24). The 
c l o s e s t t h i n g t o an i n v e s t i g a t i v e f u n c t i o n t h a t Mr. 
D a n i e l suggested f o r Ms. Browning was l o o k i n g i n t o 
c r i m i n a l backgrounds of w i t n e s s e s , though no such 
background checks i n t h i s case were i d e n t i f i e d . ( I d . 
a t 476:20-477:3). Thus, as w i t h Jan W i l b u r n , the 
Court f i n d s t h a t Ms. Browning d i d not make any 
e f f o r t t o l o c a t e or speak t o any w i t n e s s e s t o 
p r e p a r e Mr. Smith's case. 

"24. A n g e l a Smith was a p a r a l e g a l . (Hrg. Tr. 
410:21-24). Her b i l l i n g statement i n d i c a t e s she 
spent 12.6 hours w o r k i n g on Mr. Smith's case. (Ex. 
11). That time was spent d r a f t i n g p l e a d i n g s and 
r e s e a r c h i n g case law. (Id.) Ms. Smith's b i l l i n g 
r e c o r d s do not i n d i c a t e she spent any time 
i n v e s t i g a t i n g the f a c t s and c i r c u m s t a n c e s of t h i s 
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case and Mr. D a n i e l d i d not d e s c r i b e any e f f o r t s she 
made t o do so. (Id.) A c c o r d i n g l y , the Court f i n d s 
t h a t Ms. Smith d i d not make any e f f o r t t o l o c a t e or 
speak t o any w i t n e s s e s t o p r e p a r e Mr. Smith's case 
e i t h e r . 

"c) E f f o r t s by W a l t e r Spain 

"25. The o n l y i n v e s t i g a t o r Mr. D a n i e l r e t a i n e d 
t o work on Mr. Smith's case was W a l t e r S p a i n . (Hrg. 
Tr. 459:9-11). Mr. Smith c a l l e d Mr. Spain and the 
Court h e a r d h i s t e s t i m o n y a t the November 2006 
h e a r i n g . 

"26. Mr. Spain had no m e a n i n g f u l i n v e s t i g a t i v e 
e x p e r i e n c e . He had never b e f o r e i n v e s t i g a t e d a 
c r i m i n a l case, l e t a l o n e a murder case. (Hrg. Tr. 
34:20-22). H i s o n l y p r i o r law enforcement 
e x p e r i e n c e was as a pa t r o l m a n i n Homewood, Alabama 
f o r t h r e e months i n 1962 -- over t h i r t y y e a r s b e f o r e 
h i s i n v o l v e m e n t i n Mr. Smith's defense. ( I d . a t 
35:4-14). He r e c e i v e d no f o r m a l t r a i n i n g f o r t h a t 
p o s i t i o n and never performed any i n v e s t i g a t i v e work. 
(Id . a t 35:20-36:3). He d e s c r i b e d h i s d u t i e s s i m p l y 
as ' p a t r o l t r a f f i c , d i r e c t t r a f f i c , make t i c k e t s . ' 
( I d . , a t 35:17). 

"27. While w o r k i n g as an o f f i c e a s s i s t a n t f o r 
Mr. D a n i e l , Mr. S p a i n founded the E a g l e Eye 
D e t e c t i v e Agency. (Hrg. Tr. 38:3-8). Mr. Spain was 
Ea g l e Eye's o n l y employee ( i d . a t 38:9-11), and i t s 
p r i n c i p a l b u s i n e s s was as a p r o c e s s s e r v e r i n 
d i v o r c e a c t i o n s f o r Mr. D a n i e l and o t h e r a t t o r n e y s 
i n H u n t s v i l l e . ( I d . a t 38:6-8) Other than the work 
Mr. Spain d i d f o r Mr. Smith's case, he never 
performed any i n v e s t i g a t i v e work i n any c r i m i n a l 
m a t t e r s . ( I d . a t 38:12-14). 

"28. Mr. Spain d i d not b e g i n h i s i n v e s t i g a t i o n 
i n t o the f a c t s and c i r c u m s t a n c e s of Mr. Smith's case 
u n t i l August 1, 1995 -- the week b e f o r e the s t a r t of 
Mr. Smith's t r i a l and f i v e months a f t e r Mr. D a n i e l 
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was r e t a i n e d as c o u n s e l . (Hrg. Tr. 42:9-11; Ex. 1 ) . 
Some days p r i o r t o August 1, Mr. D a n i e l gave Mr. 
Spain a l i s t of f o u r t o f i v e persons t o i n v e s t i g a t e , 
a l t h o u g h n e i t h e r Mr. D a n i e l nor Mr. Spain remember 
whose names were on t h a t l i s t . ( I d . , a t 39:21-23; 
42:17-18; 45:13-17; 46:18-23). A c c o r d i n g t o Mr. 
S p a i n , Mr. D a n i e l e x p r e s s l y a d v i s e d him not 'to 
spend a l o t of time on i t . ' ( I d . a t 45:16-17). 

"29. On August 1, 1995, Mr. Spain spent one hour 
'on phone i n v e s t i g a t i o n t o f i n d out whether Ray 
Thomas was s t i l l a t B a r n e t t ' s Auto R e p a i r and i n f o 
on Overlook M o t e l & Apartments about owner, manager 
& o t h e r i n f o r m a t i o n . ' (Hrg. Tr. 41:24-42:4; Ex. 1 ) . 
On August 3, 1995, Mr. Spain 'spent 4 hours on t r i p 
t o G u n t e r s v i l l e and A l b e r t v i l l e t o i n t e r v i e w Ray 
Thomas and owner of Overlook.' (Hrg. Tr. 43:4-9; 
Ex. 1 ) . The round t r i p d r i v i n g d i s t a n c e was 112 
m i l e s and took a p p r o x i m a t e l y two of the f o u r hours 
Mr. Spain spent w o r k i n g on Mr. Smith's case on 
August 3, 1995. (Hrg. Tr. 43:16-22). A c c o r d i n g l y , 
between August 1 and 3, 1995, Mr. Spain spent o n l y 
a p p r o x i m a t e l y t h r e e hours t o t a l i n v e s t i g a t i n g f o r 
Mr. Smith's defense. 

"30. At no time d i d Mr. Spain ever speak t o Mr. 
Smith about the case. (Hrg. Tr. 39:11-16). H i s 
work was l i m i t e d t o the a p p r o x i m a t e l y t h r e e hours he 
spent on August 1 and August 3, 1995, because Mr. 
D a n i e l t o l d him ' t h a t ' s a l l he needed.' ( I d . a t 
47:5). Mr. Spain s u b m i t t e d o n l y the s i n g l e b i l l ( E x . 
1) f o r h i s work on Mr. Smith's case ( I d . a t 
40:13-18; 41:17-20), and he s a i d t h a t i f something 
was not r e f l e c t e d i n t h a t b i l l , then he d i d not do 
i t . ( I d . a t 44:2-10). 

"31. The Court f i n d s t h a t the t h r e e hours p l u s 
d r i v i n g time Mr. Spain spent i n v e s t i g a t i n g the f a c t s 
and c i r c u m s t a n c e s of t h i s case r e p r e s e n t the 
t o t a l i t y of Mr. D a n i e l ' s p r e t r i a l i n v e s t i g a t i o n . 

"d) Court a s s i s t a n c e 
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"32. Even though Mr. Smith was an i n d i g e n t 
defendant who was h a v i n g d i f f i c u l t y p a y i n g Mr. 
D a n i e l ' s b i l l s , Mr. D a n i e l never sought money from 
the Court t o pay f o r a p r o f e s s i o n a l i n v e s t i g a t o r . 
He a s s e r t e d (Hrg. Tr. 427:5-7) t h a t the Court would 
not have g r a n t e d such a s s i s t a n c e because, he says, 
i t capped the funds i t was w i l l i n g t o make a v a i l a b l e 
f o r an i n v e s t i g a t o r or o t h e r e x p e r t s a t $3,500, 
which Mr. D a n i e l spent on a j u r y e x p e r t . 

"33. Mr. D a n i e l l a t e r t e s t i f i e d t h a t he d i d not 
r e c a l l i f he ever asked the Court f o r a d d i t i o n a l 
funds, but he s a i d ' I f I d i d , i t would be i n the 
r e c o r d . ' (Hrg. Tr. 519:15-16). There i s n o t h i n g 
i n the r e c o r d of t h i s case t h a t such a r e q u e s t was 
made. Thus, t h i s C ourt f i n d s t h a t Mr. D a n i e l made 
no e f f o r t t o o b t a i n a d d i t i o n a l funds from the Co u r t . 
The Court f u r t h e r f i n d s t h a t Mr. D a n i e l ' s a s s e r t i o n 
t h a t a d d i t i o n a l funds would not have been made 
a v a i l a b l e i s not s u p p o r t e d by the e v i d e n c e . 

" 5The t e s t i m o n y Mr. D a n i e l r e f e r s t o was g i v e n 
by K e v i n H a r v i l l e , not Ray Thomas. ( T r i a l Tr. 
1038:23-1039:3). H i s m i s t a k e , however, does not 
a l t e r the p o i n t , which i s t h a t he i s r e f e r r i n g t o 
h i s memories of t r i a l t e s t i m o n y , and not i n t e r v i e w s 
or o t h e r e f f o r t s from any p r e t r i a l i n v e s t i g a t i o n . " 

(C. 17-26; one f o o t n o t e omitted.) 

F u r t h e r , the c i r c u i t c o u r t c o n c l u d e d t h a t , had c o u n s e l 

spoken w i t h some of the t r i a l w i t n e s s e s b e f o r e the day of 

t r i a l , he would have d i s c o v e r e d a d d i t i o n a l f a c t s than those 

e l i c i t e d a t t r i a l ; the c i r c u i t c o u r t a l s o noted t h a t two 

a d d i t i o n a l f a c t w i t n e s s e s were a v a i l a b l e and i n d i c a t e d t h a t 

23 



CR-06-0898 

they would have t e s t i f i e d a t t r i a l . With r e g a r d t o one 

w i t n e s s who t e s t i f i e d a t t r i a l , the c i r c u i t c o u r t found: 

"40. At t r i a l , Mr. Smith p r e s e n t e d e v i d e n c e 
s u p p o r t i n g an a l i b i d e f ense. He d e s c r i b e d h i s 
a c t i v i t i e s on F r i d a y , September 23, 1994, the day 
Mr. H a r r i s d i s a p p e a r e d , which i n c l u d e d c a s h i n g h i s 
paycheck, p a y i n g on h i s r i n g s , p a y i n g on a drug 
t e s t , s e e i n g h i s p r o b a t i o n o f f i c e r , and h e l p i n g h i s 
mo t h e r - i n - l a w move. ( T r i a l Tr. 1359:16-1368:2). He 
says he d i d not see Mr. H a r r i s t h a t day and had not 
seen him s i n c e a t l e a s t the week b e f o r e . ( I d . a t 
1368:9-12). 

"41. K e v i n H a r v i l l e , t e s t i f y i n g f o r the S t a t e a t 
t r i a l , s a i d t h a t he had seen Mr. Smith and Mr. 
H a r r i s a t Mr. H a r r i s ' s r e s i d e n c e a t the Ove r l o o k 
M o t e l . ( T r i a l T r. 1033:3-7). But Mr. H a r v i l l e d i d 
not remember on what date he had seen Mr. Smith w i t h 
Mr. H a r r i s ; he knew o n l y t h a t i t was on a F r i d a y i n 
September 1994. ( I d . a t 1036:16-18; Hrg. Tr. 
305:1-4). 

"42. Mr. H a r v i l l e knew Mr. H a r r i s because Mr. 
H a r r i s and Mr. H a r v i l l e ' s w i f e were i n v o l v e d i n an 
automobile a c c i d e n t i n which Mr. H a r v i l l e ' s t r u c k 
was t o t a l e d . ( T r i a l Tr. 1030:25-1031:3; Hrg. Tr. 
300:9-13). F o l l o w i n g the a c c i d e n t , Mr. H a r r i s and 
Mr. H a r v i l l e e n t e r e d i n t o an agreement by which Mr. 
H a r r i s agreed t o pay Mr. H a r v i l l e $50 e v e r y week 
u n t i l the v a l u e of the t r u c k was r e p a i d . ( T r i a l Tr. 
1031:10-16). 

"43. Mr. H a r v i l l e knew t h a t he had seen Mr. 
Smith w i t h Mr. H a r r i s on a F r i d a y because he knew 
Mr. H a r r i s r e c e i v e d h i s paycheck on F r i d a y s and so 
t h a t was the day of the week Mr. H a r v i l l e would 
always go t o c o l l e c t money f o r h i s t r u c k . ( T r i a l Tr. 
1031:17-1032:1; Hrg. Tr. 301:3-10). 
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"44. N e i t h e r Mr. D a n i e l , Mr. Spain nor anyone 
w o r k i n g on Mr. Smith's b e h a l f spoke t o Mr. H a r v i l l e 
p r i o r t o Mr. Smith's t r i a l . (Hrg. Tr. 308:4-13). I f 
they had t r i e d t o , Mr. H a r v i l l e would have been 
w i l l i n g t o speak w i t h them about the case ( i d . a t 
308:14-17) and he would have t o l d them the 
f o l l o w i n g : 

"45. F i r s t , Mr. H a r v i l l e would have s a i d t h a t on 
two s u c c e s s i v e F r i d a y s a f t e r the day Mr. H a r v i l l e 
saw Mr. Smith and Mr. H a r r i s t o g e t h e r a t the 
O v e r l o o k M o t e l , Mr. H a r v i l l e went t o c o l l e c t 
payments from Mr. H a r r i s . (Hrg. Tr. 306:3-5). On 
b o t h o c c a s i o n s , Mr. H a r r i s d i d not answer h i s door 
and thus Mr. H a r v i l l e c o u l d not c o l l e c t h i s payment. 
(Id.) 

"46. Second, Mr. H a r v i l l e would have s a i d t h a t 
a few days a f t e r h i s second f a i l e d attempt t o 
c o l l e c t payment from Mr. H a r r i s , Mr. H a r v i l l e 
l e a r n e d t h a t Mr. H a r r i s was dead. (Hrg. Tr. 
306:13-16). At about t h a t same tim e , on October 5, 
1994, Mr. H a r v i l l e was q u e s t i o n e d by p o l i c e 
r e g a r d i n g Mr. H a r r i s ' s death. ( I d . a t 301:24-302:1). 

"47. T h i r d , i f shown a c a l e n d a r , Mr. H a r v i l l e 
c o u l d have c o n f i r m e d t h a t the two s u c c e s s i v e F r i d a y s 
p r i o r t o October 5, 1994 were September 30, 1994 and 
September 23, 1994. (Hrg. Tr. 307: 11-25). The date 
t h a t Mr. H a r v i l l e saw Mr. Smith and Mr. H a r r i s 
t o g e t h e r was September 16, 1994, the F r i d a y b e f o r e 
h i s f i r s t f a i l e d attempt t o c o l l e c t payment from Mr. 
H a r r i s . ( I d . a t 308:1-3). Mr. H a r v i l l e d i d not see 
Mr. Smith or Mr. H a r r i s on September 23, 1994. 

"48. A l t h o u g h i t was not h i s t e s t i m o n y , a t Mr. 
Smith's t r i a l the p r o s e c u t o r i n c o r r e c t l y a s s e r t e d t o 
the j u r y t h a t Mr. H a r v i l l e had seen Mr. Smith and 
Mr. H a r r i s t o g e t h e r a t the Overlook M o t e l on 
September 23, 1994, the date on which Mr. H a r r i s 
d i s a p p e a r e d . ( T r i a l Tr. 1471:19-21). Mr. D a n i e l 
d i d not o b j e c t t o the p r o s e c u t o r ' s i n c o r r e c t 
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a s s e r t i o n or make any attempt t o c l a r i f y Mr. 
H a r v i l l e ' s t e s t i m o n y a t t r i a l . No o t h e r e v i d e n c e a t 
t r i a l s u ggested t h a t Mr. Smith was w i t h Mr. H a r r i s 
on September 23." 

(C. 18-32.) The c i r c u i t c o u r t f u r t h e r found t h a t c o u n s e l had 

not a d e q u a t e l y i n v e s t i g a t e d e v i d e n c e p o i n t i n g t o a t h i r d p a r t y 

as the p e r p e t r a t o r : 

"57. In h i s t e s t i m o n y , Mr. D a n i e l e x p r e s s e d h i s 
d e s i r e t o i n v e s t i g a t e C a r l Cooper. For example, 
asked whether he conducted 'an i n v e s t i g a t i o n i n t o 
C a r l Cooper's c r i m i n a l background,' Mr. D a n i e l s a i d 
'I b e l i e v e we t r i e d t o l o o k i n t o i t . ' (Hrg. Tr. 
474:6-9) (emphasis added). He c l a i m e d t h a t he 
'wanted [Walter Spain] t o go out and f i n d as much as 
he c o u l d about the r e l a t i o n s h i p between C a r l Cooper 
and Dennis H a r r i s . ' ( I d . a t 409:2-4) (emphasis 
added). And he a s s e r t e d t h a t he ' t h i n k s we t r i e d ' 
but he c o u l d not say whether he or h i s i n v e s t i g a t o r 
had been a b l e t o get i n touch w i t h Mr. Cooper's 
e x - w i f e , Sarah Johnson. ( I d . a t 407:12-20) (emphasis 
added). As no t e d (FF 15), Ms. Johnson t e s t i f i e d a t 
the November 2006 h e a r i n g t h a t she was never 
c o n t a c t e d by Mr. D a n i e l or anyone w o r k i n g f o r him. 

"58. Whatever Mr. D a n i e l ' s hopes and d e s p i t e h i s 
s u s p i c i o n s , the Court f i n d s t h a t he d i d not make a 
me a n i n g f u l e f f o r t t o i n v e s t i g a t e C a r l Cooper's -- or 
any o t h e r t h i r d p a r t y ' s -- l i k e l y i n v o l v e m e n t i n the 
H a r r i s murder. No r e c o r d s from h i s f i l e s of any 
c r i m i n a l background checks of Mr. Cooper were ever 
i n t r o d u c e d . Mr. Spain's b i l l i n g r e c o r d s r e f l e c t no 
e f f o r t t o i n v e s t i g a t e Mr. Cooper (Ex. 1 ) , and Mr. 
Spa i n h i m s e l f had no memory of t r y i n g t o do so. 
(Hrg. Tr. 39:17-19) F u r t h e r , as d e t a i l e d below, 
Sarah Johnson and o t h e r w i t n e s s e s w i t h knowledge of 
ev i d e n c e i m p l i c a t i n g Mr. Cooper and another 
p o t e n t i a l s u s p e c t , B r i a n Fox, were a v a i l a b l e t o t a l k 
t o Mr. D a n i e l i n the summer of 1995 and would have 
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been w i l l i n g t o do so, but t h e y were never 
c o n t a c t e d . 

"59. I n s t e a d , i t appears t h a t Mr. D a n i e l 
i n t e n d e d t o r e l y on Mr. Smith's 16 year o l d w i f e t o 
t e s t i f y and t o i m p l i c a t e C a r l Cooper. Mr. D a n i e l 
p r o v i d e d no d e t a i l s about what knowledge he thought 
Tanya Smith had i m p l i c a t i n g Mr. Cooper. He s i m p l y 
p r o f e s s e d 'hope' t h a t 'she would h e l p me p o i n t the 
f i n g e r [at Mr. Cooper] because I s t i l l t o t h i s day 
don't t h i n k L a r r y Smith committed t h a t murder.' 
(Hrg. Tr. 412:18-20). Mr. D a n i e l c o n t i n u e d : '[Tanya 
Smith] was p r e s e n t when [Mr. Cooper] s a i d c e r t a i n 
t h i n g s and I can't remember r i g h t now what e x a c t l y 
they were But they would have been of an 
i n c r i m i n a t i n g n a t u r e and would not have been 
hea r s a y I t concerned Dennis H a r r i s and, you 
know, b a s i c a l l y g o i n g over and h o l d i n g him up, I 
b e l i e v e i s what i t was about.' ( I d . a t 413:2-14). 
The j u r y never h e a r d a n y t h i n g about t h i s p o s s i b l e 
d e fense, however, because, a c c o r d i n g t o Mr. D a n i e l , 
Tanya Smith r e f u s e d t o t e s t i f y a t the t r i a l ( i d . a t 
414:18-19), and Mr. D a n i e l had not l o c a t e d any o t h e r 
w i t n e s s who might t e s t i f y t o Mr. Cooper's 
in v o l v e m e n t i n the H a r r i s murder." 

(C. 34-35.) The c i r c u i t c o u r t a l s o s e t out i t s f i n d i n g s w i t h 

r e g a r d t o Cooper's e x - w i f e . The c i r c u i t c o u r t found t h a t 

Cooper's e x - w i f e was a p o t e n t i a l w i t n e s s t h a t D a n i e l was aware 

of a t the time of t r i a l ; t h a t she had g i v e n a statement t o 

p o l i c e i n v e s t i g a t o r s as p a r t of the i n i t i a l i n v e s t i g a t i o n i n t o 

the murder; and t h a t she had t e s t i f i e d a t the e v i d e n t i a r y 

h e a r i n g i n the Rule 32 p r o c e e d i n g t h a t she would have been 

w i l l i n g t o speak w i t h the defense had t h e y approached he r . 
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The c i r c u i t c o u r t f u r t h e r found t h a t Cooper's e x - w i f e had 

i n d i c a t e d t h a t she would have i n f o r m e d the defense t h a t she 

and Cooper were h a v i n g f i n a n c i a l t r o u b l e s a t the time of the 

murder and t h a t Cooper had proposed the i d e a of r o b b i n g H a r r i s 

but t h a t Smith had been " d i s m i s s i v e of the i d e a because 'he 

d i d n ' t have t o do a n y t h i n g [to] Dennis t o r e c e i v e money from 

him, because he was [a] good f r i e n d and he would h e l p [Mr. 

Smith] out a t any t i m e . ' ( I d . a t 249:15-22). (The Court notes 

t h a t t h i s matches the d e s c r i p t i o n of the c o n v e r s a t i o n Mr. 

D a n i e l says Tanya Smith had d e s c r i b e d t o him." (C. 36-37.) 

The c i r c u i t c o u r t f u r t h e r found t h a t Cooper's e x - w i f e had 

t e s t i f i e d a t the e v i d e n t i a r y h e a r i n g t h a t Cooper had purchased 

a handgun i n J u l y 1994; t h a t Cooper had been " u n u s u a l l y 

i n t e r e s t e d i n the newspaper coverage of the d i s c o v e r y of 

Dennis H a r r i s ' s body" (C. 37); t h a t Cooper had c a l l e d the 

s h e r i f f ' s department and an i n v e s t i g a t o r had come t o t h e i r 

house t o tak e a statement; and t h a t , b e f o r e the i n v e s t i g a t o r 

a r r i v e d , Cooper had t h r e a t e n e d t o k i l l h er p a r e n t s and her i f 

she "ever went a g a i n s t him." (C. 37.) The c i r c u i t c o u r t a l s o 

found t h a t Cooper's e x - w i f e had i n d i c a t e d t h a t she and Cooper 

had s a t t o g e t h e r when g i v i n g t h e i r statements t o the 
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i n v e s t i g a t o r and t h a t she had merely s u b s t i t u t e d Smith's name 

f o r Cooper's when p r o v i d i n g d e t a i l s t o the i n v e s t i g a t o r . 

"69. E i g h t h , Ms. Johnson [Cooper's e x - w i f e ] 
t e s t i f i e d , c r e d i b l y , i n the C o u r t ' s view, t h a t had 
she t e s t i f i e d a t t r i a l , she would have c o r r e c t e d her 
e a r l i e r statement t o the p o l i c e by o f f e r i n g the 
f o l l o w i n g t r u t h f u l i n f o r m a t i o n : (A) She never heard 
Mr. Smith suggest r o b b i n g Dennis H a r r i s ( i d . a t 
263:15-264:3; 266:4-267:11); the o n l y p e r s o n she 
heard make t h a t s u g g e s t i o n was C a r l Cooper ( i d . a t 
261:20-21; 266:8-9). (B) She never saw Mr. Smith 
w i t h a gun ( i d . a t 264:6-18); r a t h e r , the gun and 
h o l s t e r she had d e s c r i b e d i n her statement b e l o n g e d 
t o Mr. Cooper. (C) She never h e a r d Mr. Smith say he 
s t o l e a gun from L a r r y M o f f e t t ( i d . a t 
265:22-266:1), r a t h e r , she was s i m p l y p a r r o t i n g what 
Mr. Cooper had s a i d i n h i s statement. 

"70. N i n t h , Ms. Johnson would have s a i d t h a t on 
F r i d a y , September 23, 1994, the day t h a t Dennis 
H a r r i s d i s a p p e a r e d , C a r l Cooper was gone from t h e i r 
apartment f o r much of the a f t e r n o o n and e v e n i n g . 
(Hrg. Tr. a t 271:4-9). When he a r r i v e d home, Mr. 
Cooper was wet and muddy; h i s pants were t o r n a t the 
knee and h i s s w e a t s h i r t was t o r n a t the s h o u l d e r . 
(Id , a t 273:10-17; 274:18-275:7). Mr. Cooper's o n l y 
e x p l a n a t i o n f o r h i s appearance was t h a t he had been 
a t t a c k e d by a pack of dogs. ( I d . a t 276:13-15). 
A f t e r r e t u r n i n g home, he took o f f h i s t o r n and muddy 
c l o t h e s and put them i n a bag, which he took out of 
t h e i r apartment. ( I d . a t 276:22-277:4). 

"71. A l t h o u g h Ms. Johnson f e l t t h r e a t e n e d by 
C a r l Cooper and had been a f r a i d f o r her and her 
f a m i l y ' s l i v e s when she gave what she says was an 
u n t r u t h f u l statement t o p o l i c e i n October 1994, she 
t e s t i f i e d t h a t by the summer of 1995 she would have 
been w i l l i n g t o t e l l the t r u t h t o i n v e s t i g a t o r s and 
a t t r i a l . (Hrg. Tr. 279:10-20). That i s because i n 
Feb r u a r y 1995, Ms. Johnson l e f t Mr. Cooper a f t e r he 

29 



CR-06-0898 

had broken t h e i r one-month-old daughter's arm. ( I d . 
a t 279:16-17). Ms. Johnson p r o m p t l y f i l e d charges 
a g a i n s t Mr. Cooper f o r c h i l d abuse and domestic 
abuse ( i d . a t 295:9-18) and s e c u r e d her d i v o r c e by 
A p r i l 1995. ( I d . a t 294:6-10). She had no o t h e r 
c o n t a c t w i t h Mr. Cooper a f t e r t h a t p o i n t . ( I d . a t 
278:12-13). The C o u r t f i n d s Ms. Johnson's t e s t i m o n y 
c o n c e r n i n g her a v a i l a b i l i t y and w i l l i n g n e s s t o 
cooperate w i t h the defense, had she been approached, 
t o be c r e d i b l e . " 

(C. 38-39.) 5 

The c i r c u i t c o u r t a l s o made e x t e n s i v e f i n d i n g s r e g a r d i n g 

the l a c k of e x p e r t t e s t i m o n y , p a r t i c u l a r l y r e l a t i n g t o p o l i c e 

i n v e s t i g a t i v e p r o c e d u r e s d u r i n g the q u e s t i o n i n g of Cooper and 

h i s e x - w i f e and the i n t e r r o g a t i o n s of Smith. One such e x p e r t 

t e s t i f i e d a t the e v i d e n t i a r y h e a r i n g on the Rule 32 p e t i t i o n ; 

the c i r c u i t c o u r t found t h a t t h a t e x p e r t had been a v a i l a b l e 

and had been l i s t e d i n the N a t i o n a l D i r e c t o r y of E x p e r t 

Witnesses a t the time of t r i a l . 

"Given these f a c t s and h i s former p o s i t i o n w i t h the 
Birmingham p o l i c e department, the Court i s c o n f i d e n t 

5The c i r c u i t c o u r t a l s o d i s c u s s e d i n i t s o r d e r i t s 
f i n d i n g s w i t h r e g a r d t o another w i t n e s s who t e s t i f i e d a t the 
Rule 32 h e a r i n g t h a t she would have i n f o r m e d the defense t h a t 
she had o v e r h e a r d Cooper and another man d i s c u s s i n g f r a m i n g 
Smith f o r a crime. The c i r c u i t c o u r t found t h i s w i t n e s s ' s 
t e s t i m o n y t o be e q u i v o c a l , and i t a c c e p t e d t h a t t e s t i m o n y o n l y 
f o r the p r o p o s i t i o n t h a t , had D a n i e l been aware of the 
i n f o r m a t i o n t h i s w i t n e s s t e s t i f i e d t o , he might have conducted 
a d d i t i o n a l i n v e s t i g a t i o n . 
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t h a t Mr. Gaut [the e x p e r t w i t n e s s ] was known i n the 
s t a t e t o E J I and t o e x p e r i e n c e d l a w y e r s and law 
enforcement o f f i c i a l s , and t h a t he c o u l d have been 
l o c a t e d . 

"98. The Court f i n d s t h a t a t the time of Mr. 
Smith's t r i a l , Mr. Gaut was a v a i l a b l e i n o r d e r t o 
p r o v i d e i n f o r m a t i o n and t e s t i m o n y t h a t would have 
a l l o w e d Mr. D a n i e l t o undermine t o the j u r y the 
c r e d i b i l i t y of Mr. Smith's a l l e g e d c o n f e s s i o n . (Hrg. 
Tr. 113:1-12). H i s t e s t i m o n y would a l s o have been 
v a l u a b l e i n showing t h a t the o r i g i n a l statement t o 
the p o l i c e by C a r l Cooper's former w i f e , Sarah 
Johnson, was ta k e n i n a h i g h l y f l a w e d manner t h a t 
l e d t o i t b e i n g d e c e p t i v e . Had Mr. D a n i e l 
i n t e r v i e w e d Ms. Johnson and had her t e s t i f y a t 
t r i a l , t h i s t e s t i m o n y from Mr. Gaut would have been 
e x t r e m e l y i m p o r t a n t . 

"99. Mr. D a n i e l was not an e x p e r t on p o l i c e 
p r o c e d u r e s (Hrg. Tr. 496:10-16), and he d i d not 
r e t a i n e x p e r t s on p o l i c e p r o c e d u r e s t o a s s i s t i n the 
defense of Mr. Smith. ( I d . a t 496:17-20). A l t h o u g h 
Mr. D a n i e l c l a i m e d he was 'knowledgeable' about 
p o l i c e p r o c e d u r e s ( i d . a t 524:6-10), the t r i a l 
r e c o r d f a i l s t o show t h a t Mr. D a n i e l c h a l l e n g e d the 
S t a t e ' s f a i l u r e t o p r e s e r v e a r e c o r d i n g or 
t r a n s c r i p t of Mr. Smith's f i r s t p o s t - a r r e s t 
i n t e r r o g a t i o n . Mr. D a n i e l a l s o f a i l e d t o make any 
e f f o r t or o f f e r any argument t h a t t h i s b r e a c h i n 
p o l i c e p r o c e d u r e , which Mr. Gaut t e s t i f i e d was 
h i g h l y u n u s u a l ( i d . a t 211:6-13), s e v e r e l y 
undermined the c r e d i b i l i t y of Mr. Smith's a l l e g e d 
c o n f e s s i o n t aken i n the second p o s t - a r r e s t p o l i c e 
i n t e r r o g a t i o n . " 

(C. 49-50.) The c i r c u i t c o u r t f u r t h e r made e x t e n s i v e f i n d i n g s 

r e g a r d i n g the l a c k of any e x p e r t t e s t i m o n y b e i n g o f f e r e d i n 

the a r e a of f a l s e c o n f e s s i o n s , n o t i n g t h a t the E J I manuals 
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D a n i e l s t e s t i f i e d he had r e f e r e n c e d i n p r e p a r i n g the defense 

i d e n t i f i e d a v a i l a b l e r e s o u r c e s i n the f i e l d , and t h a t D a n i e l s 

"seemed u n f a m i l i a r w i t h t h i s t o p i c and the e x i s t e n c e of 

p o s s i b l e e x p e r t w i t n e s s e s i n t h i s a r e a . " (C. 5 0 . ) 6 

S i m i l a r l y , w i t h r e g a r d t o the p r e j u d i c e prong of 

S t r i c k l a n d , the c i r c u i t c o u r t made e x t e n s i v e f i n d i n g s as t o 

how each of these a c t s or o m i s s i o n s by c o u n s e l a d v e r s e l y 

impacted the defense. 

To the e x t e n t t h a t the c i r c u i t c o u r t found t h a t D a n i e l 

had f a i l e d t o conduct "any" i n v e s t i g a t i o n , such a f i n d i n g i s 

not a c c u r a t e . S i m i l a r l y , the c i r c u i t c o u r t found t h a t D a n i e l 

made "no" e f f o r t t o l o c a t e c e r t a i n w i t n e s s e s . D a n i e l ' s 

t e s t i m o n y a t the Rule 32 h e a r i n g i n d i c a t e s t h a t he performed 

"some" i n v e s t i g a t i o n , and t h e r e i s ev i d e n c e s u g g e s t i n g t h a t 

D a n i e l d i d attempt t o l o c a t e some of the w i t n e s s e s d e s c r i b e d . 

6 A l t h o u g h the c i r c u i t c o u r t found t h a t an e x p e r t who 
t e s t i f i e d a t the e v i d e n t i a r y h e a r i n g on the Rule 32 p e t i t i o n 
had t e s t i f i e d i n Alabama as e a r l y as 1999, and c o u l d have 
t e s t i f i e d a t Smith's t r i a l , we make no d e t e r m i n a t i o n as t o the 
p r o p r i e t y of the c i r c u i t c o u r t ' s f i n d i n g t h a t t h i s p a r t i c u l a r 
w i t n e s s was a v a i l a b l e a t the time of Smith's t r i a l . However, 
the g e n e r a l premise t h a t defense c o u n s e l s h o u l d have been 
aware of the need f o r such an e x p e r t i n t h i s case, and the 
r e s o u r c e s a v a i l a b l e a t the time , do sup p o r t the c i r c u i t 
c o u r t ' s f i n d i n g s t h a t c o u n s e l d i d not a d e q u a t e l y p r e p a r e w i t h 
r e g a r d t o t h i s i s s u e . 
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However, we c o n s t r u e the c i r c u i t c o u r t ' s language as 

i n d i c a t i n g t h a t the c i r c u i t c o u r t found t h a t D a n i e l had not 

conducted any m e a n i n g f u l or adequate i n v e s t i g a t i o n . 7 The 

e v i d e n c e as t o the amount and adequacy of t h a t i n v e s t i g a t i o n 

was c o n f l i c t i n g . On the one hand, D a n i e l t e s t i f i e d t h a t he 

7The c i r c u i t c o u r t i n d i c a t e d t h a t i t found D a n i e l ' s 
t e s t i m o n y r e g a r d i n g h i s e f f o r t s a t the s e n t e n c i n g phase of 
Smith's t r i a l t o be " u n p e r s u a s i v e " and t h a t "Mr. D a n i e l ' s 
[te s t i m o n y ] shows t h a t he f a i l e d t o conduct any m e a n i n g f u l 
i n v e s t i g a t i o n i n t o e v i d e n c e t h a t c o u l d have been p r e s e n t e d a t 
the s e n t e n c i n g phase, and t h a t the modest case he p r e s e n t e d 
r e s u l t e d from l a c k of p r e p a r a t i o n and i n v e s t i g a t i o n r a t h e r 
than an i n f o r m e d s t r a t e g i c c h o i c e . " (C. 87.) With r e g a r d t o 
the p r e t r i a l i n v e s t i g a t i o n , the c i r c u i t c o u r t s t a t e d : 

"The Court concludes t h a t the a d v e r s a r i a l p r o c e s s 
broke down i n t h i s case. Mr. D a n i e l made no 
m e a n i n g f u l e f f o r t a t any p r e t r i a l i n v e s t i g a t i o n . 
There i s no c r e d i b l e e v i d e n c e t h a t he p e r s o n a l l y 
undertook t o l o c a t e or speak w i t h any f a c t or e x p e r t 
w i t n e s s e s who might have been h e l p f u l t o Mr. Smith's 
defense. There i s some e v i d e n c e t h a t he modestly 
d e l e g a t e d i n v e s t i g a t i v e t a s k s t o one o t h e r p e r s o n , 
W a l t e r S p a i n , but Mr. Spain d i d not have e i t h e r the 
a b i l i t y , t i m e , r e s o u r c e s or e x p e r i e n c e n e c e s s a r y t o 
conduct a m e a n i n g f u l p r e t r i a l i n v e s t i g a t i o n i n t o a 
case of t h i s magnitude. The C o u r t cannot c o n c e i v e 
of a c a p i t a l murder case t h a t c o u l d be a d e q u a t e l y 
i n v e s t i g a t e d i n t h r e e hours, e x c l u d i n g t r a n s i t t i m e , 
which i s a l l the time Mr. Spain spent on t h i s case. 
C e r t a i n l y , t h e r e was much more t o be d i s c o v e r e d , as 
e v i d e n c e d by Mr. Smith's p r e s e n t a t i o n a t the 
November 2006 h e a r i n g . " 

(C. 88-89.) 
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had performed 200-300 hours of p e r s o n a l i n v e s t i g a t i o n and t h a t 

members of h i s s t a f f had t e l e p h o n e d p o t e n t i a l w i t n e s s e s . On 

the o t h e r hand, i n a d d i t i o n t o e l i c i t i n g t e s t i m o n y from D a n i e l 

t h a t undermined the weight and c r e d i b i l i t y of D a n i e l ' s 

t e s t i m o n y , Smith's Rule 32 c o u n s e l p r e s e n t e d a number of 

w i t n e s s e s whose t e s t i m o n y suggested t h a t the i n v e s t i g a t i o n was 

d e f i c i e n t and t h a t Smith's defense was p r e j u d i c e d as a r e s u l t . 

As s t a t e d above, i t was the duty of the c i r c u i t c o u r t t o 

r e s o l v e those c o n f l i c t s ; the c i r c u i t c o u r t weighed the 

ev i d e n c e and determined the c r e d i b i l i t y of the w i t n e s s e s , and 

i t i s c l e a r t h a t i t found t h a t Smith had not r e c e i v e d the 

e f f e c t i v e a s s i s t a n c e of c o u n s e l a t t r i a l . A l t h o u g h some of 

the language i n the c i r c u i t c o u r t ' s o r d e r may not be 

t e c h n i c a l l y a c c u r a t e , the v a s t m a j o r i t y of i t s f i n d i n g s and 

i t s u l t i m a t e c o n c l u s i o n are s u p p o r t e d by the r e c o r d . 

B. 

With r e g a r d t o t r i a l c o u n s e l ' s performance a t the 

s e n t e n c i n g phase of Smith's t r i a l , the S t a t e argues t h a t 

c o u n s e l made the s t r a t e g i c d e c i s i o n t o p r e s e n t two w i t n e s s e s 

a t the s e n t e n c i n g phase, r a t h e r than c a l l i n g a l l the w i t n e s s e s 

who had t e s t i f i e d a t the g u i l t phase, because t h e i r t e s t i m o n y 

34 



CR-06-0898 

would be c u m u l a t i v e and would l o s e e f f e c t i v e n e s s w i t h the 

j u r y . The S t a t e p o i n t s t o the f o l l o w i n g e x c e r p t from D a n i e l ' s 

t e s t i m o n y a t the e v i d e n t i a r y h e a r i n g on the Rule 32 p e t i t i o n , 

a t which D a n i e l , a f t e r b e i n g asked why he d i d not p r e s e n t 

a d d i t i o n a l d e t a i l s , s t a t e d : 

" [ D a n i e l ] : Okay. Anybody who has ever t r i e d a 
number of j u r y t r i a l s where you b a s i c a l l y have t o go 
over t h e r e and you have t o p r e s e n t an i d e a t o a 
j u r y , t h e r e comes a p o i n t where you get -- you get 
the p o i n t a c r o s s t o those 12 p e o p l e . They're not 
deaf. 

" [ S t a t e ] : Yes, s i r . 

" [ D a n i e l ] : I f you make your p o i n t , t h a t ' s a l l 
you want t o do. I f you get t o the p o i n t t o where 
you're c o n s t a n t l y r u n n i n g 20 w i t n e s s e s i n and 
t h e y ' r e s a y i n g the same t h i n g over and over a g a i n , 
you run the r i s k of b a s i c a l l y over s a t u r a t i o n and 
you run the g r e a t r i s k of a l i e n a t i n g the j u r y 
a g a i n s t you. 

" [ S t a t e ] : Have you seen t h a t happen b e f o r e i n 
o t h e r cases? 

" [ D a n i e l ] : Oh, yeah. I have seen s e v e r a l cases 
where l a w y e r s on bo t h s i d e s d i d n ' t have any s t o p p i n g 
sense. 

" [ S t a t e ] : Yes, s i r . 

" [ D a n i e l ] : And they wanted t o b r i n g i n 20, 30 
w i t n e s s e s and b a s i c a l l y the j u r y , I have had j u r i e s 
t e l l me a f t e r cases t h a t , you know, we got the 
p o i n t . 

" [ S t a t e ] : Yes, s i r . 
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" [ D a n i e l ] : And i t j u s t i r r i t a t e d us because t h e y 
kept b e a t i n g the dead h o r s e . You got t o know when 
you make your p o i n t when t o stop because the 
q u i c k e s t way t o l o s e a case i s t o a l i e n a t e the j u r y 
a g a i n s t your p o s i t i o n . And I had t h r e e w i t n e s s e s 
who t e s t i f i e d i n t h a t case t o b a s i c a l l y t o what we 
needed t o have t e s t i f i e d . There was no reason t o 
o v e r k i l l cause i t was a judgment c a l l . " 

(R. 430-31.) D a n i e l ' s d e c i s i o n , the S t a t e a v e r s , i s 

p e r m i s s i b l e under S t r i c k l a n d , and, i t a s s e r t s , the c i r c u i t 

c o u r t ' s r e l i a n c e on the E J I g u i d e l i n e s as a b a s i s f o r 

d e t e r m i n i n g t h a t D a n i e l ' s d e c i s i o n amounted t o i n e f f e c t i v e 

a s s i s t a n c e of c o u n s e l was i n e r r o r . 

A l t h o u g h we agree t h a t s t r a t e g i c d e c i s i o n s are w i t h i n the 

purvi e w of c o u n s e l and, as s t a t e d i n p a r t I of t h i s o p i n i o n , 

t h a t the S t r i c k l a n d s t a n d a r d i s the p r o p e r s t a n d a r d t o a p p l y 

i n d e t e r m i n i n g whether t r i a l c o u n s e l r e n d e r e d i n e f f e c t i v e 

a s s i s t a n c e , the S t a t e ' s argument i s not w e l l t a k e n . 

"'Once c o u n s e l conducts a r e a s o n a b l e 
i n v e s t i g a t i o n of law and f a c t s i n a 
p a r t i c u l a r case, h i s s t r a t e g i c d e c i s i o n s 
a r e " v i r t u a l l y u n c h a l l e n g e a b l e . " 
[ S t r i c k l a n d v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668] a t 
690, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 
[ ( 1 9 8 4 ) ] . T a c t i c a l or r e a s o n a b l e 
p r o f e s s i o n a l judgments are not d e f i c i e n t 
but a f a i l u r e t o i n v e s t i g a t e a m a t e r i a l 
m a t t e r due t o i n a t t e n t i o n may be d e f i c i e n t . 
When the c l a i m i s t h a t c o u n s e l f a i l e d t o 
p r e s e n t a s u f f i c i e n t m i t i g a t i n g case d u r i n g 

36 



CR-06-0898 

s e n t e n c i n g , the i n q u i r y " i s not whether 
c o u n s e l s h o u l d have p r e s e n t e d a m i t i g a t i o n 
case" but "whether the i n v e s t i g a t i o n 
s u p p o r t i n g c o u n s e l ' s d e c i s i o n not t o 
i n t r o d u c e m i t i g a t i n g e v i d e n c e ... was 
i t s e l f r e a s o n a b l e . " See Wiggins [v.  
Smith] , 539 U.S. [510] a t 523, 123 S.Ct. 
2527, 156 L.Ed.2d 471 [(2003)] ( i n t e r n a l 
c i t a t i o n s o m i t t e d ) . ' " 

Davis v. S t a t e , [Ms. CR-05-2050, Aug. 7, 2009] So. 3d , 

( A l a . Crim. App. 2009), q u o t i n g P o w e l l v. K e l l y , 562 F.3d 

656, 670 (4th C i r . 2009). See a l s o Ex p a r t e Land, 775 So. 2d 

847, 853-54 ( A l a . 2000). "When c o u r t s are examining the 

performance of an e x p e r i e n c e d t r i a l c o u n s e l , the presumption 

t h a t h i s conduct was r e a s o n a b l e i s even s t r o n g e r . " C handler  

v. U n i t e d S t a t e s , 218 F.3d 1305, 1316 (11th C i r . 2000). See  

a l s o Provenzano v. S i n g l e t a r y , 148 F.3d 1327, 1332 (11th C i r . 

1998) ("Our s t r o n g r e l u c t a n c e t o second guess s t r a t e g i c 

d e c i s i o n s i s even g r e a t e r when those d e c i s i o n s are made by 

e x p e r i e n c e d c r i m i n a l defense c o u n s e l . " ) . 

However, i t i s c l e a r t h a t l a b e l i n g a d e c i s i o n as 

" s t r a t e g i c " does not render t h a t d e c i s i o n above r e p r o a c h ; 

r a t h e r , c o u n s e l must have performed an adequate enough 

i n v e s t i g a t i o n t o make an i n f o r m e d and educated d e c i s i o n . "[A] 

s t r a t e g i c d e c i s i o n t h a t i s based on an i n c o m p l e t e 
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i n v e s t i g a t i o n may not be s t r a t e g i c or r e a s o n a b l e . " H a r r i s v.  

S t a t e , 947 So. 2d 1079, 1119 ( A l a . Crim. App. 2004), S.Ct. 

quashed w r i t i n p a r t and a f f ' d . 947 So. 2d 1139. See a l s o 

Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510 (2003). 

"In cases where s e n t e n c i n g c o u n s e l d i d not 
conduct enough i n v e s t i g a t i o n t o f o r m u l a t e an 
a c c u r a t e l i f e p r o f i l e of a defendant, we have h e l d 
the r e p r e s e n t a t i o n beneath p r o f e s s i o n a l l y competent 
s t a n d a r d s . See, e.g., B l a n c o [v. S i n g l e t a r y ] , 943 
F.2d [1477] 1501-03 [ ( 1 1 t h C i r . 1991)] ( c o u n s e l ' s 
performance d e f i c i e n t where h i s s o l e attempt t o 
p r o c u r e m i t i g a t i o n w i t n e s s e s f o r p e n a l t y phase was 
t o l e a v e messages f o r the w i t n e s s e s and a w a i t t h e i r 
r e s ponses, and he thus u l t i m a t e l y conducted no 
i n t e r v i e w s ) ; H a r r i s [v. Dugger], 874 F.2d [756] 763 
[ ( 1 1 t h C i r . 1989)] ( c o u n s e l d e f i c i e n t where he d i d 
not i n v e s t i g a t e d e fendant's f a m i l y , s c h o l a s t i c , 
m i l i t a r y and employment background); M i d d l e t o n [v.  
Dugger], 849 F.2d [491] 493 [ ( 1 1 t h C i r . 1988)] 
(performance d e f i c i e n t where ' t r i a l c o u n s e l 
conducted almost no background i n v e s t i g a t i o n , 
d e s p i t e d i s c u s s i o n s w i t h M i d d l e t o n c o n c e r n i n g the 
e x i s t e n c e of such m i t i g a t i n g e v i d e n c e ' as 
p s y c h i a t r i c problems, b r u t a l c h i l d h o o d , p h y s i c a l , 
s e x u a l and drug abuse, and low I.Q.); Armstrong [v.  
Dugger], 833 F.2d [1430] 1433-34 [ ( 1 1 t h C i r . 1987)] 
(performance d e f i c i e n t where t r i a l c o u n s e l ' s 
i n v e s t i g a t i o n of m i t i g a t i n g e v i d e n c e was l i m i t e d t o 
s i n g l e c o n v e r s a t i o n w i t h defendant and h i s p a r e n t s , 
and another c o n v e r s a t i o n w i t h defendant's p a r o l e 
o f f i c e r ) . " 

J ackson v. H e r r i n g , 42 F.3d 1350, 1367 (11th C i r . 1995). 

In i t s o r d e r a d d r e s s i n g the s e n t e n c i n g phase, the c i r c u i t 

c o u r t found: 
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"Mr. D a n i e l had never b e f o r e t r i e d a c a p i t a l 
murder case (Hrg. Tr. 484:23-25), so h i s 'judgment' 
was not based on e x p e r i e n c e w i t h such cases. And 
w h i l e he s a i d he had r e a d E J I ' s recommendations of 
how t o handle the s e n t e n c i n g phase of a c a p i t a l 
murder case, and c l a i m e d he t r i e d t o f o l l o w these 
recommendations ( i d . a t 521:10-24), the e v i d e n c e , 
d e s c r i b e d above (FF 55 113-115), suggests 
o t h e r w i s e . " 

(C. 56.) Here, i t i s apparent t h a t the c i r c u i t c o u r t ' s 

f i n d i n g s are based h e a v i l y on the f a c t t h a t D a n i e l was not 

e x p e r i e n c e d i n d e f e n d i n g c a p i t a l - m u r d e r cases. F u r t h e r , the 

c i r c u i t c o u r t found " t h a t the modest case [ D a n i e l ] p r e s e n t e d 

r e s u l t e d from l a c k of p r e p a r a t i o n and i n v e s t i g a t i o n r a t h e r 

than an i n f o r m e d s t r a t e g i c c h o i c e . " (C. 87.) The c i r c u i t 

c o u r t ' s f i n d i n g s are s u p p o r t e d by the r e c o r d , and n o t h i n g i n 

the S t a t e ' s b r i e f w a r r a n t s t h i s C o u r t ' s g o i n g b e h i n d the 

c i r c u i t c o u r t ' s r e s o l u t i o n of c r e d i b i l i t y c h o i c e s t o r e v e r s e 

the c i r c u i t c o u r t ' s judgment. A l t h o u g h Smith's showing of 

p r e j u d i c e as t o t h i s c l a i m i s not as s t r o n g as h i s showing 

t h a t c o u n s e l ' s performance was d e f i c i e n t i n the i n v e s t i g a t i o n 

and the p r e s e n t a t i o n of Smith's defense a t the g u i l t phase of 

Smith's t r i a l , we conclude t h a t the c i r c u i t c o u r t c o r r e c t l y 

d e t e rmined t h a t "a r e a s o n a b l e p r o b a b i l i t y e x i s t s t h a t but f o r 

the i n e f f e c t i v e a s s i s t a n c e of Mr. Smith's c o u n s e l , the outcome 
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of Mr. Smith's t r i a l might w e l l have been d i f f e r e n t . " (C. 

90.) 

For these r e a s o n s , the c i r c u i t c o u r t ' s judgment -¬

g r a n t i n g Smith's Rule 32 p e t i t i o n and o r d e r i n g a new t r i a l -¬

i s a f f i r m e d . 

AFFIRMED. 

Welch, J . , c o n c u r s . Wise, P.J., and Windom and K e l l u m , 

J J . , concur i n the r e s u l t . 
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